CONSTITUTION AND BYLAWS

FOR THE

TRINITY EVANGELICAL FREE CHURCH OF SOUTH BEND, INDIANA

AS AMENDED September 26, 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONSTITUTION	3
PREAMBLE	3
ARTICLE I – NAME	3
ARTICLE II – AUTHORITY AND AFFILIATION	3
ARTICLE III – PURPOSE	3
ARTICLE IV – STATEMENT OF FAITH	3
ARTICLE V – MEMBERSHIP	5
ARTICLE VI – PROPERTY	5
ARTICLE VII – AMENDMENTS	6
BYLAWS	6
ARTICLE I – MEMBERSHIP	6
Section 1 – Eligibility	6
Section 2 – Application	6
Section 3 – Guidelines	6
Section 4 – Responsibilities	7
Section 5 – Restoration/Discipline of Members	8
Section 6 – Mediating Disputes	
Section 7 – Property Rights	8
ARTICLE II – GOVERNMENT	9
Section 1 – Administration of Government	9
Section 2 – Church Board	9
Section 3 – Senior Pastor	
Section 4 – Additional Pastoral Staff	
Section 5 – Interim Pastors	
Section 6 – Support Staff	
Section 7 – Elders	
Section 8 – At-large Members	

Section 9 – Ministry Teams and Church Volunteers	11
Section 10 – Trustees	12
Section 11 – Standing Committees	
Section 12 – Organizations within the Church	13
Section 13 – Bylaw Review	13
Section 14 – Fiscal Year	13
Section 15 – Policy Papers	13
ARTICLE III – MEETINGS	13
Section 1 – Services	13
Section 2 – Annual Business Meeting	13
Section 3 – Special Business Meeting	13
Section 4 – Quorum	
Section 5 – Voting	14
Section 6 – Request to Inspect	14
Section 7 – Meeting by electronic means	14
Section 8 – Action by consent without meeting	14
ARTICLE IV – FINANCIAL STEWARDSHIP	15
ARTICLE V – INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION	15
Section 1 – Insurance	15
Section 2 – Indemnification Requests	15
Section 3 – Indemnification Decisions	
ARTICLE VI – CONFLICT OF INTERESTS	16
APPENDIX I – SCRIPTURE REFERENCE CITATIONS	16

CONSTITUTION

PREAMBLE

We, the members of the Trinity Evangelical Free Church of South Bend, in order to carry out more efficiently the commission given by Jesus Christ to His Church do ordain and establish the following Constitution to which we voluntarily submit ourselves.

This congregation is organized as a church exclusively for charitable, religious, educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Revenue Law).

ARTICLE I – NAME

The legal name of this organization shall be TRINITY EVANGELICAL FREE CHURCH OF SOUTH BEND, INC., and is herein referred to as this church, Trinity Church, or Trinity.

ARTICLE II – AUTHORITY AND AFFILIATION

Section 1. The congregation is the governing body of this church.

Section 2. This church shall be affiliated with the Evangelical Free Church of America through its Great Lakes District Conference and shall send delegates to their conferences, support their home and overseas missions, and unite in all mutual efforts for the furtherance of the Gospel of Christ in the measure that the church itself may officially decide.

ARTICLE III – PURPOSE

The purpose of this church shall be to glorify God by spreading the Gospel of Jesus Christ in order that the commitment of the members be strengthened first to God, then to the Body of Christ and to the world.

ARTICLE IV – STATEMENT OF FAITH

The Statement of Faith of this church shall be the same as that of the Evangelical Free Church of America which, updated as of June 2019, reads as follows:

God

1. We believe in one God, Creator of all things, holy, infinitely perfect, and eternally existing in a loving unity of three equally divine Persons: the Father, the Son and the Holy Spirit. Having

limitless knowledge and sovereign power, God has graciously purposed from eternity to redeem a people for Himself and to make all things new for His own glory.

The Bible

2. We believe that God has spoken in the Scriptures, both Old and New Testaments, through the words of human authors. As the verbally inspired Word of God, the Bible is without error in the original writings, the complete revelation of His will for salvation, and the ultimate authority by which every realm of human knowledge and endeavor should be judged. Therefore, it is to be believed in all that it teaches, obeyed in all that it requires, and trusted in all that it promises.

The Human Condition

3. We believe that God created Adam and Eve in His image, but they sinned when tempted by Satan. In union with Adam, human beings are sinners by nature and by choice, alienated from God, and under His wrath. Only through God's saving work in Jesus Christ can we be rescued, reconciled and renewed.

Jesus Christ

4. We believe that Jesus Christ is God incarnate, fully God and fully man, one Person in two natures. Jesus-Israel's promised Messiah-was conceived through the Holy Spirit and born of the virgin Mary. He lived a sinless life, was crucified under Pontius Pilate, arose bodily from the dead, ascended into heaven and sits at the right hand of God the Father as our High Priest and Advocate.

The Work of Christ

5. We believe that Jesus Christ, as our representative and substitute, shed His blood on the cross as the perfect, all-sufficient sacrifice for our sins. His atoning death and victorious resurrection constitute the only ground for salvation.

The Holy Spirit

6. We believe that the Holy Spirit, in all that He does, glorifies the Lord Jesus Christ. He convicts the world of its guilt. He regenerates sinners, and in Him they are baptized into union with Christ and adopted as heirs in the family of God. He also indwells, illuminates, guides, equips and empowers believers for Christ-like living and service.

The Church

7. We believe that the true church comprises all who have been justified by God's grace through faith alone in Christ alone. They are united by the Holy Spirit in the body of Christ, of which He is the Head. The true church is manifest in local churches, whose membership should be composed only of believers. The Lord Jesus mandated two ordinances, baptism and the Lord's Supper, which visibly and tangibly express the gospel. Though they are not the means of salvation, when celebrated by the church in genuine faith, these ordinances confirm and nourish the believer.

Christian Living

8. We believe that God's justifying grace must not be separated from His sanctifying power and purpose. God commands us to love Him supremely and others sacrificially, and to live out our

faith with care for one another, compassion toward the poor and justice for the oppressed. With God's Word, the Spirit's power, and fervent prayer in Christ's name, we are to combat the spiritual forces of evil. In obedience to Christ's commission, we are to make disciples among all people, always bearing witness to the gospel in word and deed.

Christ's Return

9. We believe in the personal, bodily and glorious return of our Lord Jesus Christ. The coming of Christ, at a time known only to God, demands constant expectancy and, as our blessed hope, motivates the believer to godly living, sacrificial service, and energetic mission.

Response and Eternal Destiny

10. We believe that God commands everyone everywhere to believe the gospel by turning to Him in repentance and receiving the Lord Jesus Christ. We believe that God will raise the dead bodily and judge the world, assigning the unbeliever to condemnation and eternal conscious punishment and the believer to eternal blessedness and joy with the Lord in the new heaven and the new earth, to the praise of His glorious grace. Amen.

ARTICLE V - MEMBERSHIP

The membership of this church shall be composed of individuals who are believers in the Lord Jesus Christ, and who give evidence by their confession and their conduct that they are living in real fellowship with the Lord Jesus Christ, as detailed in Article I of the Bylaws.

ARTICLE VI – PROPERTY

Section 1. This church shall have the authority to receive, either by gift or purchase, and to hold such real, personal, or mixed property as is authorized by the laws of the United States of America and the State of Indiana and as is deemed necessary for the purpose of this church, and shall have the power to dispose of such property by mortgage, deed, or otherwise. All such property shall be held in the name of this church.

Section 2. In case of a division of this church (from which we pray God by His mercy to preserve us), the property of this church shall belong to those who abide by its Constitution and Bylaws as determined by the Great Lakes District Conference of the Evangelical Free Church of America.

Section 3. In case of dissolution of this church organization, the assets shall be assigned to the Great Lakes District Conference of the Evangelical Free Church of America (GLD-EFCA) to enable said conference to renew the work or use the values thereof for further Gospel enterprises. In the event that the GLD-EFCA is not in existence at the time of this church's dissolution, the assets shall be assigned to the Evangelical Free Church of America. This church shall be considered dissolved if so decided by the organization, or when this church has not held an annual meeting for three years, or when fewer than six members remain.

ARTICLE VII – AMENDMENTS

This church may make any change in the Constitution and Bylaws which may seem necessary, but such changes must be submitted to the church membership by the Church Board in a written form at least two weeks before the proposed meeting and can be adopted by a two-thirds majority vote.

BYLAWS

ARTICLE I – MEMBERSHIP

Section 1 – Eligibility

Any person, 18 years of age or above, who trusts in the Lord Jesus Christ as his or her personal Lord and Savior, who has the assurance of salvation, and whose character, conduct and reputation are in accordance with Biblical standards, who subscribes to the above Statement of Faith, who accepts the Constitution and Bylaws of this church, and who is willing to support this church in attendance, prayers, serving, and material means, may make application for membership to this church. In obedience to Jesus' instructions to His followers (Matthew 28:18-20), such individuals should be baptized after profession of Christian faith (exceptions to this requirement may be made by the elders on a case-by-case basis).

Section 2 – Application

The process for membership, open to all described in Section 1, shall be outlined in Policy Papers written by the Pastoral Staff and Church Board. The Policy Papers shall also outline the process by which a former member or Associate may apply for membership. A review and potential update to the Policy Papers may be requested by a member of the Pastoral Staff or Church Board.

If a potential member is currently under church discipline, the circumstances of this must be fully disclosed and discussed in detail with the Board before he or she will be accepted for membership.

Section 3 – Guidelines

A. Service

A member shall exercise full membership rights in voting and serving with full respect to this church unless otherwise exempted by this Constitution or its Bylaws. Membership in good standing is required for voting, serving in an elected position, serving in an appointed leadership position and for serving on a search committee.

Upon request, the Church Board will consider special circumstances (i.e., under age 18, or missionaries, etc.) on an individual basis, and may encourage Associate status if appropriate.

B. Absences and Withdrawals

- 1. If any member is absent from worship services for more than one year without giving satisfactory reason for such absence, the church may remove this person from membership.
- 2. Any member who wishes to withdraw/transfer from this church may request a letter of withdrawal/transfer from the Senior Pastor.
- 3. At the annual congregational business meeting, the names of members added and/or removed (with reason for removal, whether by voluntary resignation, lapse in attendance, transfer of membership or member discipline) will be reported to the membership. A special congregational meeting may be called at the discretion of the church board for the health of the church.

C. Associates

Associates may not vote or hold a Trinity Church office but are recognized as having a close relationship with Trinity. A person may request of the Board and be granted associate status if he or she is a member who leaves the area, but desires to continue a formal relationship with Trinity; or he or she faithfully attends Trinity and is under the age of 18. Such a youth would go through the same process required for becoming a member. An associate who reaches 18 years of age and wants to be a member of Trinity shall again go through the same process required for becoming a member, except for the membership class. The Board may also grant associate status to an individual who, due to special circumstances in his or her ministry, needs to have such an affiliation but finds it difficult to maintain the attendance requirements of membership.

Section 4 – Responsibilities

Coming into membership with the Trinity Church involves submitting to the authority of the Scriptures as the final arbiter on all issues (2 Timothy 3:14-17) and growing in our faith under the direction of the elders and other appointed leaders (Hebrews 13:17). Members are to consider Trinity Church as their home church and shall, by faith with God's guidance and help, live out and benefit from these responsibilities of membership.

- a. Grow as a disciple of Jesus.
- b. In relationship together, help others grow as followers of Jesus through:
 - i. mutual God-centered encouragement,
 - ii. applied teaching,
 - iii. accountability,
 - iv. service,
 - v. prayer,
 - vi. outreach such as occurs in a small group or similar expression of doing life together.
- c. **Maintain the unity of the church**. Abide by the Constitution and Bylaws of Trinity Church, honoring our Statement of Faith and never teaching or seeking to persuade anyone in contradiction to any portion of our Statement of Faith, either publicly or

privately. Agree to and abide by the Trinity Church policies regarding "Marriage and Human Sexuality" and "Sanctity of Human Life." Work through appropriate channels to resolve concerns and conflicts.

- d. Support and build up the church with our time, talents, and treasure.
- e. **Join in the mission of the church** through prayer and participation in reaching the unchurched at home and abroad with the gospel of Jesus Christ.

Section 5 – Restoration/Discipline of Members

All members of this fellowship are expected to live in accordance with this church's Statement of Faith and lead a lifestyle that is exemplary of a Christ follower as represented in Scripture. In the event that a member begins to live in a way that brings disrepute upon him/her or this fellowship, church discipline will be exercised as follows:

- A. The straying individual will be approached in accordance with the steps outlined in Matthew 18:15-17.
- B. A formal discipline group, if needed, shall include a pastor, at least one elder and a third person appointed by the Church Board. The individual shall be interviewed and counseled by the group as indicated in the Word of God (Matthew 18:15-17; Galatians 6:1). The restoration or reconciliation of the erring member shall be the single purpose, and love the sole motivating force in these interviews.
- C. If, however, the member should choose to continue in an unrepentant condition, the disciplinary group shall recommend to the Elders that the member be deprived of membership. Should the Elders agree, loss of membership is finalized by a unanimous vote of the Church Board. This action shall be reported to the church membership in accordance with Section 3.B.3 above.

Section 6 – Mediating Disputes

When disputes arise between Trinity members and an impasse is reached, it is our expectation that members seek mediation and arbitration from church leadership in keeping with 1 Corinthians 6:1-8.

Section 7 – Property Rights

- A. The private property of the individual members of this church shall be exempt from its corporate debt.
- B. No individual shall have rights of ownership to the church property, real or personal, since all contributions to this nonprofit organization are freely given for the work of the gospel ministry.
- C. All records pertaining to the church are the sole property of the church. Individuals holding official church documents must surrender them to the church upon request.

ARTICLE II – GOVERNMENT

Section 1 – Administration of Government

- A. The ultimate authority of the church is the Word of God, as revealed in the clear guidelines for the church in the Bible.
- B. We are congregational in that our membership as a corporation owns our property and votes as a membership on the largest issues of church decisions:
 - Call of the Senior Pastor
 - Call of the members of the Church Board
 - Purchase or sale of real property and building programs
 - Constitution and by law adoption and changes
 - Annual budget
- C. All other matters of the church and issues not directly addressed by these Bylaws will be conducted under the leadership/supervision of the Church Board.

Section 2 – Church Board

- A. The Church Board shall include the Senior Pastor, three at large members and six elders from the congregation. The elders and at-large members shall be called by the congregation and serve nonconsecutive three-year terms. This Church Board shall only deliberate on issues of their responsibility, the ministry framework, when they are together as one board at a meeting duly called for that purpose, for all the members of the board.
- B. The responsibility of the Church Board is to establish and be the guardian of the ministry policies of the church under which all pastors and volunteers serve. This ministry framework can be envisioned as four sides:
 - 1. Trinity's foundations: theology, Constitution, Bylaws, discipline process, etc.;
 - 2. <u>Our resources</u>: finances, buildings and property (capital), volunteers, missions dollars and salaries;
 - 3. Guidelines: church-wide ministry policies;
 - 4. <u>Goals</u>: mission, vision long-term, culture of the church emphasis on core values, etc. The Church Board has oversight over the four sides and the pastors have oversight over the actual ministry.
- C. The Church Board may overrule the Senior Pastor if they believe a decision or ministry is inconsistent with our Trinity foundations (Scripture, Statement of Faith, Constitution, Bylaws and policies).
- D. The Church Board shall also conduct annual reviews of the Senior Pastor's ministry and work in conjunction with the Compensation Committee to determine appropriate compensation.

- E. A Board Chairman and Vice-Chairman shall be selected by the Church Board from among the elders on the board to serve for one year, which runs concurrent with their three-year term. A Secretary and Finance Chairman shall also be designated from among the Church Board. The Board Chairman shall be an ex-officio member of all church committees.
- F. Any action of the Church Board may be addressed by the membership at any Constitutionally called business meeting. Any unexpired term on the Church Board will be filled by the Church Board.

Section 3 – Senior Pastor

- A. Call: The pastor shall be called after recommendation of the Church Board and a search committee by a 75% vote of membership voting by written, secret ballot. This shall be after a clearly defined process of search and then candidacy before the church.
- B. Responsibilities: The pastor shall be the leader of church ministries, pulpit, and staff, seeking to obey the responsibilities defined in the Bible for the pastor-shepherd. He will be a member of the Church Board, an ex-officio member of all committees of the church, and pastor within the guidelines defined in the ministry framework of our church.
- C. Other responsibilities shall be as determined by the Church Board and reviewed annually.
- D. Resignation: The pastor shall give at least two months' notice to the Church Board and the church upon resigning from his ministry.
- E. Dismissal: The pastor can be dismissed because of moral misconduct, theological heresy or ineffectiveness by a two-thirds vote of the Church Board, after careful investigation. This must be affirmed by the majority of church members at a special meeting called for that purpose, with proper notification. In such a case, dismissal is immediate.

Section 4 – Additional Pastoral Staff

- A. Call: They shall be selected by the Senior Pastor with approval of the Church Board and in line with the budget.
- B. Tenure: All staff serves at the will of the Senior Pastor, but any dismissal of a pastoral staff or ministry director must be approved by the Church Board.

Section 5 – Interim Pastors

An Interim Pastor shall be appointed by the Church Board for an agreed upon period of time to perform specific functions or duties identified by the Church Board subject to the congregationally approved budget. The Congregation shall be informed of any such appointment(s).

Section 6 – Support Staff

Positions requiring an increase in the budget must be approved by the Church Board. Duties and accountability shall be as determined by staff leadership.

Section 7 – Elders

- A. Number A minimum of six elders shall be called by the membership to serve non-consecutive three-year terms to assist the pastor in any spiritual ministries of the church and to serve on the Church Board along with three at-large members also called by the membership. The elders shall not function as a separate board or group for recommendations or deliberations in areas that are assigned to the Church Board, but function that way only as they are part of a duly called Church Board meeting.
- B. Affirmation Elders may be nominated by any members through a process defined by church Policy Papers, and will be vetted by the pastoral staff, Church Board, and the nominating committee before being presented to the membership for an affirmation vote at our annual meetings. As far as possible, a third of them will be called each year.
- C. Qualifications An elder will be a man recognized for godliness in character (see 1 Timothy 3:1-7, Titus 1:5-9), a person who has been a member of Trinity at least three years, and someone who supports the ministry of Trinity with service, giving, and unity.

Section 8 – At-large Members

- A. Number Three at-large members shall be called by the membership to serve non-consecutive three-year terms on the Church Board. Their responsibilities shall be consistent with those covered in Article II, Section 2B.
- B. Affirmation At-large members may be nominated by any members through a process defined by church Policy Papers, and will be vetted by the pastoral staff, Church Board, and the nominating committee before being presented to the membership for an affirmation vote at our annual meetings. As far as possible, a third of them will be called each year.
- C. Qualifications An at-large member will be someone recognized for godliness in character, a person who has been a member of Trinity at least three years, and someone who supports the ministry of Trinity with service, giving, and unity.

Section 9 – Ministry Teams and Church Volunteers

- A. Responsibility The pastoral staff and ministry directors on staff shall have as one of their main responsibilities the recruitment and training of volunteers to serve in all the areas of church life and outreach, locally and to the world.
- B. Qualifications Policy Papers approved by the Church Board shall state which volunteer teaching and ministry positions require membership in the church.

C. Call - All positions shall be for a one-year term, renewable as mutually desired.

Section 10 – Trustees

In accord with the requirements of the state, the fiduciary trustees of the church shall be the Board Chairman, Secretary, Finance Chairman, and the staff Director of Administration.

Section 11 – Standing Committees

A. Nominating Committee

Three or four members shall be affirmed by the membership to serve along with the Senior Pastor and at least one outgoing member of the Church Board. They shall present names for affirmation for three-year terms on the Church Board and present names for the Nominating Committee. Nominating Committee members shall serve three-year terms in a staggered rotation, with one or two committee members affirmed each year by the membership at its annual meeting. An existing committee member may serve an additional year if this avoids having more than two vacancies to fill in a given year.

B. Compensation Committee

The compensation committee shall consist of the Chairman of the Church Board, Vice-chairman of the Church Board and the Finance Chairman. They exist for the purpose of overseeing the establishment of an equitable compensation package for the Senior Pastor, pastoral staff, and support staff. They will meet on an annual basis, to coordinate with the annual budget.

C. Senior Pastor Search Committee

a. When necessary, this committee shall consist of the Chairman and Vice-chairman of the Church Board and two to four other members of the church selected by the Church Board.

b. Procedure

- 1. The Church Board shall give approval, by a three-fourths majority, before the candidate is presented to the church membership at a meeting called for that purpose.
- 2. The Senior Pastor Search Committee shall then make its recommendation to the church membership. The church members shall vote by written, secret ballot, and a three-fourths majority vote by those voting is necessary for a call to be issued. Absentee ballots shall be made available upon request to any member and submitted prior to the congregational vote.
- 3. If a call is not issued to the candidate recommended by the Senior Pastor Search Committee, the members of that committee will resign, and a new

committee shall be formed as outlined above. Committee members may be re-elected to serve on the Senior Pastor Search Committee.

Section 12 – Organizations within the Church

Any organization formed within or considered to be a part of the activities of this church requires the approval of the Church Board. Once approved, the Church Board shall determine how the church partners with these organizations.

Section 13 – Bylaw Review

These Bylaws shall be reviewed every two years by a team of no fewer than three people designated by the Church Board.

Section 14 – Fiscal Year

The fiscal year shall be determined by the Church Board.

Section 15 – Policy Papers

The Church Board must approve any Policy Papers that become standards for ministries of the church, none of which may contradict anything in these Bylaws.

ARTICLE III – MEETINGS

Section 1 – Services

The main worship services shall be conducted at such times as decided by the Church Board after recommendation by the pastoral staff. Classes, seminars, and special events shall be the responsibility of the Pastor and staff.

Section 2 – Annual Business Meeting

The Annual Business Meeting of this church shall be held no more than 30 days after the close of the fiscal year at such time as may be decided by the Church Board. The Chairman of the Church Board shall conduct the Annual Business Meeting. The meeting shall include but not be limited to affirmation of leaders and budget approval. The existing annual budget will remain in place until a new budget is approved. The rules of order contained in Robert's Rules of Order (revised), or an acceptable equivalent, shall guide this organization when it is not inconsistent with its Constitution and Bylaws.

Section 3 – Special Business Meeting

Special business meetings may be called by the Church Board or by the church membership. Members may call a meeting by written request to the Church Board signed by no less than 10 percent of the membership. Notice of such special meetings shall be given by announcement at

the regular services at least two Sundays, and on the website, and by two email mailings to all the church as possible.

Section 4 – Quorum

When appropriate notice has been given to announce a special business meeting or the annual business meeting, a quorum shall consist of 15 percent of the current membership. Regarding Church Board meetings, to have a quorum for any official, binding vote, all Board members must have been notified in advance of the meeting and a majority of Board members must be present.

Section 5 – Voting

All members age eighteen or older have the right to vote in all matters coming before the business meetings. All matters shall be determined by a majority vote (one more than one-half of all votes cast) except where otherwise specified in these Bylaws. When it is determined that a paper ballot will be cast, it will be by secret ballot. Absentee ballots shall be made available upon request when a vote is to be held. These absentee ballots shall be signed and submitted prior to the vote.

Section 6 – Request to Inspect

By written request to the Church Board, a member may inspect prepared financial statements of the church and the minutes of any business meeting. Given the sensitive issues of privacy and confidentiality, the Church Board shall consider the request and act accordingly.

Section 7 – Meeting by electronic means

The Church Board or church membership may hold a meeting by any electronic medium in which all persons participating in the meeting can speak and hear each other. The notice of a meeting by electronic means must state the meeting will be held by electronic means (including the directions to participate) and all other matters required to be included in the notice. Participation of a person in an electronic meeting constitutes the presence of that person at the meeting.

Section 8 – Action by consent without meeting

Any action required or permitted to be taken by the church membership, Church Board, or committees may be taken without a meeting and with the same force and effect as an in-person meeting. Members, members of the Church Board, and committees must return the consents to the Secretary. Such consent may be given individually or collectively to the Secretary in writing, fax, via a secure website, or electronic mail. The action is adopted if the requisite number of consents is submitted to the Secretary to approve the action, assuming all members, all Church Board members, or all committee members were notified in advance of the action, and the requisite quorum of members voted.

ARTICLE IV – FINANCIAL STEWARDSHIP

The Church Board shall establish written policies that:

- (a) are designed to assure financial accountability and integrity;
- (b) govern how Church funds are to be spent, by whom, and how financial accountability is maintained; and
- (c) govern the use of the Church's property and other matters necessary for the efficient operation and use of Church resources.

Church funds shall be spent consistent with the approved annual budget. The Church Board may spend up to three percent over and above the approved total annual budget without receiving advance approval from the membership. Such action will be reported to the membership. The Church Board shall establish written overspending policies for ministries, and other groups of the Church.

The church shall act as a conduit for all funds designated to Church Board approved ministries beyond the scope of our general fund.

All fundraising requests shall be submitted in writing for the approval by the Church Board of this church.

ARTICLE V – INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION

Section 1 – Insurance

Trinity Church will purchase and maintain liability insurance on behalf of any and all persons who are or were a director, officer, leader, employee, committee member or volunteer of this church (while serving in their capacity as such). Such insurance will be purchased for the purpose of protecting such persons from covered loss resulting in liability asserted against the above individuals in connection with their activities on behalf of Trinity Church.

Section 2 – Indemnification Requests

Should any director, officer, leader, employee, committee member or volunteer of Trinity Church incur any liability as a result of their affiliation with or service to this church that is not covered by the Trinity's insurance policy, and should such liability result in any out-of-pocket cost to such individual, then such individual may request indemnification from Trinity Church. The granting of full or partial indemnification shall be at the discretion of the Church Board as set forth in Section 3 of this Article VI.

Section 3 – Indemnification Decisions

In relation to any indemnification request that is made pursuant to Section 2 of this Article VI, if such request is made by an individual who is not currently serving on the Church Board, then the indemnification decision (whether to indemnify the requesting individual, and the dollar amount of such indemnification), will be made by the Church Board. Such decision of the Church Board

will be final. If the indemnification request is being made by a person who is currently serving on the Church Board, then the indemnification decision (whether to indemnify the requesting party, and the dollar amount of such indemnification), will be made by the remaining disinterested members of the Church Board. A decision on the indemnification request by a majority of disinterested members of the Church Board will be final.

ARTICLE VI – CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

Trinity Church expects its board members, directors, officers, trustees, deacons, representatives, volunteers, or other agents acting on behalf of Trinity ("Representatives") to conduct Trinity's business to ultimately achieve the highest ethical standards of conduct, to comply with all applicable laws, and to conform with Biblical principles. Trinity's Representatives are expected to put Trinity's interests ahead of their own personal interests as they carry out their responsibilities on behalf of this church, and they have a duty to recognize, disclose, and avoid conflicts of interests. Representatives are prohibited from using their position with this church for any type of private gain or to obtain benefits for themselves or members of their family.

Potential conflict of interests occurs when a Representative's outside interests (i.e., financial, business, personal, or relational interests) interfere with Trinity's interests or the Representative's work-related duties. For example, a conflict of interests may occur when a Representative is in a position to influence a decision that may result in a personal gain for the Representative or the Representative's family member as a result of Trinity's business dealings. Areas in which conflicts may arise between Representatives and Trinity Church, may include, but are not limited to, the following transactions with third parties:

- Transactions involving supplying goods and services to Trinity;
- Transactions involving real estate or property leases to or with Trinity;
- Transactions involving donors or others supporting Trinity;
- Transactions that pay royalties or monetary awards to Representatives for products or services provided to Trinity; or
- Transactions involving other organizations that affect the operations of Trinity Church.

If a Representative becomes aware of any potential conflict of interests or ethical concern regarding the Representative's position with Trinity Church or another Representative's position with Trinity, the Representative must promptly complete a conflict of interests disclosure form and submit it to Trinity's conflict of interests administrator (the staff Director of Administration) and the Board Chairman. Representatives serving Trinity as Church Board members, officers, or trustees shall complete an annual conflict of interests disclosure form each year and submit it to Trinity's conflict of interests administrator.

APPENDIX I – SCRIPTURE REFERENCE CITATIONS

All Scripture references in these Constitution and Bylaws are to be read and understood from The Holy Bible, English Standard Version® (ESV®).